

# American Journal of International Relations (AJIR)



## Role of Multinational Corporations in Shaping Foreign Policy in Host Countries

*William White*



## Role of Multinational Corporations in Shaping Foreign Policy in Host Countries



William White

University of Pennsylvania



Crossref

Article history

Submitted 15.07.2024 Revised Version Received 20.08.2024 Accepted 24.09.2024

### Abstract

**Purpose:** The aim of the study was to assess the role of multinational corporations in shaping foreign policy in host countries.

**Methodology:** This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low cost advantage as compared to a field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

**Findings:** The study found that Multinational corporations (MNCs) significantly influence the foreign policy of host countries through economic power, investment strategies, and lobbying efforts. Their substantial financial resources allow MNCs to invest in local economies, which can lead to job creation and infrastructure development, making them vital players in the host nation's economic landscape. Consequently, governments may prioritize policies that favor MNC interests to attract and retain foreign investment. Furthermore, MNCs often engage in

lobbying activities to shape legislation and regulations that align with their operational needs, thus directly impacting foreign policy decisions. This dynamic relationship can lead to a symbiotic interaction where both MNCs and host countries leverage each other for mutual benefit, although it may also raise concerns regarding sovereignty and the potential for MNCs to exert undue influence on national policies.

**Implications to Theory, Practice and Policy:** Dependency theory, globalization theory and institutional theory may be used to anchor future studies on role of multinational corporations in shaping foreign policy in host countries. From a practical perspective, the recommendations advocate for actionable steps that host countries can take to balance the influence of MNCs in shaping foreign policy. In terms of policy contributions, the recommendations advocate for comprehensive frameworks that prioritize public welfare and environmental sustainability in regulatory practices.

**Keywords:** *Multinational Corporations, Foreign Policy, Host Countries*

## INTRODUCTION

Multinational corporations (MNCs) play a significant role in shaping foreign policy in host countries, influencing both economic and political landscapes. Foreign policy decisions in developed economies, such as the USA and Japan, are influenced by various strategic interests, including economic stability, national security, and global diplomacy. The USA's foreign policy has increasingly focused on addressing global challenges such as climate change and cybersecurity, while maintaining traditional alliances, particularly through NATO. For instance, a significant shift occurred in 2021 when the Biden administration re-entered the Paris Agreement, aiming to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 50-52% from 2005 levels by 2030, reflecting a commitment to international cooperation on climate issues (U.S. Department of State, 2021). In Japan, the government has sought to strengthen its security alliances with the USA amid rising tensions in the Asia-Pacific region, particularly with China and North Korea. Recent data indicates that Japan has increased its defense budget by 5% in 2023, marking the highest annual increase in over a decade, signaling a shift toward a more proactive defense policy (Ministry of Defense, Japan, 2023). These trends reflect a broader global tendency among developed nations to prioritize strategic partnerships and multilateralism in their foreign policy. For example, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, both the USA and Japan have committed to supporting global vaccination efforts, pledging to provide millions of vaccine doses to developing nations. This move not only enhances their international standing but also underscores a recognition that global health security is intertwined with national security.

In developing economies, foreign policy decisions are often shaped by economic development goals, regional security concerns, and the desire to enhance global standing. For instance, Brazil has actively sought to expand its influence in South America and beyond through a series of strategic partnerships, including participation in BRICS (Brazil, Russia, India, China, South Africa). This platform has facilitated economic cooperation and political dialogue, allowing Brazil to leverage its resources and position itself as a leader in the Global South. As of 2023, Brazil has experienced a 15% increase in foreign direct investment (FDI) inflows, partly due to its diplomatic efforts to enhance trade relations with other developing nations (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2023). Similarly, India has focused on strengthening its foreign policy through initiatives such as the "Act East" policy, aimed at improving trade and security ties with Southeast Asian countries. These strategies reflect an awareness among developing nations of the importance of regional integration and international cooperation in achieving development objectives. For example, India's commitment to providing \$150 million in aid to the Maldives in 2023 highlights its role as a regional leader and its interest in maintaining stability in the Indian Ocean region. Furthermore, the African Union's Agenda 2063 emphasizes the need for African countries to collaborate on economic development and security, showcasing a collective approach to addressing challenges such as conflict and poverty.

Mexico also exemplifies a developing economy actively shaping its foreign policy to promote economic growth and regional stability. Under the current administration, Mexico has prioritized its relationship with the United States, particularly concerning trade, migration, and security. The United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement (USMCA) has played a crucial role in enhancing trade relations, leading to a 20% increase in exports to the U.S. in 2022 (Mexican Ministry of Economy, 2022). Additionally, Mexico has engaged in diplomatic initiatives aimed at addressing the root causes of migration, collaborating with Central American countries to enhance development and security in the region. This multifaceted foreign policy reflects Mexico's recognition of the



interconnectedness of economic prosperity and social stability, demonstrating a commitment to both domestic and regional issues.

Similarly, Indonesia has been increasingly active on the global stage, focusing on issues such as climate change, economic partnerships, and maritime security. As a member of the G20, Indonesia has used its position to advocate for sustainable development and inclusive economic growth. In 2022, the Indonesian government announced a commitment to reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 29% by 2030, aligning its foreign policy with global climate goals (Indonesian Ministry of Environment and Forestry, 2022). This decision reflects Indonesia's understanding of the importance of addressing climate change, both for its domestic policies and its international image. Additionally, Indonesia's "Global Maritime Fulcrum" strategy seeks to enhance maritime cooperation with neighboring countries, aiming to strengthen its influence in the South China Sea and promote regional stability. This multi-faceted approach illustrates how developing economies are increasingly leveraging foreign policy to address national challenges and secure their interests on the global stage.

Vietnam has strategically positioned itself as a key player in Southeast Asia by diversifying its foreign relations and strengthening its economic partnerships. The country has focused on enhancing trade agreements, particularly through the Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP), which has contributed to a reported 15% growth in trade volumes with member countries in 2022 (Vietnam General Department of Customs, 2023). Furthermore, Vietnam's diplomatic efforts to balance relations with both the United States and China highlight its pragmatic approach, aiming to secure economic benefits while maintaining sovereignty. In recent years, Vietnam has also increased its defense spending by 7% annually to address security challenges in the South China Sea, reflecting its commitment to safeguarding national interests (Vietnam Ministry of National Defense, 2023).

In many developing economies, foreign policy decisions are primarily driven by the need for economic growth, social development, and international recognition. Countries like Kenya and Indonesia illustrate this trend effectively. Kenya has pursued a strategic foreign policy aimed at enhancing its role as a regional leader in East Africa, particularly through its participation in the African Union and the Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD). In 2023, Kenya hosted the Nairobi Summit on a Universal Health Coverage, showcasing its commitment to global health issues, which attracted international attention and investment commitments estimated at \$200 million (Government of Kenya, 2023). Furthermore, Kenya's focus on enhancing its trade relations, particularly with China, has led to a reported 12% increase in trade volumes over the last two years, indicating a robust effort to leverage international partnerships for economic development.

In Sub-Saharan Africa, foreign policy decisions are largely influenced by the need to address internal conflicts, economic development, and external relations with global powers. Countries such as South Africa have played a significant role in promoting peace and stability on the continent, often leading diplomatic initiatives to resolve regional conflicts. For instance, South Africa's involvement in the African Union's mediation efforts in South Sudan has highlighted its commitment to regional stability, with the country providing peacekeepers and resources to support the peace process. As of 2023, South Africa has also seen a 20% increase in trade with its African neighbors, illustrating the benefits of a proactive foreign policy aimed at regional integration (African Development Bank, 2023). In Nigeria, the government has focused on enhancing its foreign relations to attract investment and bolster economic growth, leading to a 30%

increase in foreign direct investment in 2022 compared to the previous year. The evolving foreign policy landscape in Sub-Saharan Africa reflects a growing recognition of the need for collaboration among nations to tackle shared challenges such as climate change, poverty, and security threats. For example, Nigeria's commitment to the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA) underscores its strategy to promote intra-African trade and economic cooperation. Additionally, the increasing influence of China in the region has led to significant investments in infrastructure projects, with China's funding in Africa reaching over \$100 billion in 2023, further highlighting the importance of international partnerships in shaping foreign policy decisions (Chinese Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2023).

In Sub-Saharan Africa, foreign policy decisions are often closely linked to the continent's socio-economic challenges, as countries seek to enhance their global standing while addressing internal issues. For instance, Ghana has emphasized democratic governance and regional stability as key elements of its foreign policy. In 2023, Ghana hosted the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) summit to discuss security challenges in the region, leading to a collective decision to increase military cooperation among member states (ECOWAS, 2023). This initiative is critical given the rising concerns over terrorism and political instability in the Sahel region. Additionally, Ghana's foreign policy has increasingly focused on attracting foreign investment, as evidenced by a 15% increase in FDI in 2022, supported by improved governance and regulatory frameworks (Ghana Investment Promotion Centre, 2022).

Another example is Ethiopia, which has been navigating a complex foreign policy landscape shaped by its internal conflicts and regional dynamics. The Ethiopian government has sought to maintain strong relations with its neighbors while addressing the fallout from the Tigray conflict. In 2023, Ethiopia signed a peace agreement with the Sudanese government to resolve border disputes and enhance trade, demonstrating a commitment to diplomatic engagement (Ethiopian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2023). This move is critical as Ethiopia relies on stable regional relationships for economic growth and security. Furthermore, the government's focus on promoting infrastructure development through initiatives like the Grand Ethiopian Renaissance Dam has implications for its foreign relations, particularly with downstream countries. These examples underscore the nuanced and strategic approaches that Sub-Saharan economies are adopting in their foreign policy to navigate both internal and external challenges.

Multinational corporations (MNCs) significantly influence the economies of host countries through various mechanisms, ultimately shaping foreign policy decisions. One primary influence is job creation, as MNCs often establish manufacturing plants or service centers in developing economies, providing employment opportunities that enhance local economic stability. For instance, studies have shown that MNCs in Sub-Saharan Africa have been responsible for generating over 1.5 million jobs in recent years, contributing to a reduction in poverty rates (UNCTAD, 2022). The presence of MNCs also drives technological transfer, as they often bring advanced technologies and managerial skills that can enhance local industry productivity. As a result, host governments may formulate foreign policies that favor MNC operations, such as offering tax incentives or creating favorable regulatory environments, to attract further investment and stimulate economic growth (Meyer & Sinani, 2020).

Another significant influence of MNCs is their role in shaping local supply chains, which can lead to enhanced infrastructure development within host countries. By necessitating better logistics and transportation networks, MNCs encourage governments to prioritize infrastructure investments, influencing foreign policy towards partnerships that promote economic collaboration.

Additionally, MNCs often engage in corporate social responsibility (CSR) initiatives, impacting local communities by investing in health, education, and environmental sustainability projects. These actions can lead host governments to adopt foreign policies that align with MNC values, fostering a conducive environment for sustainable development. Furthermore, the economic power of MNCs can lead to increased geopolitical leverage for host countries, allowing them to negotiate more favorable trade agreements and strengthen international ties (Kumar & Singh, 2021).

### **Problem Statement**

The increasing influence of multinational corporations (MNCs) in the global economy has profound implications for the foreign policy decisions of host countries. As MNCs expand their operations, they not only contribute to economic growth but also shape political landscapes and international relations through their investment strategies and lobbying efforts. This phenomenon raises critical questions about the extent to which MNCs influence the sovereign decisions of governments, particularly in developing countries where economic dependency on foreign investment can lead to compromised policy-making. For instance, MNCs may prioritize their interests in negotiations, leading host governments to adopt foreign policies that align more closely with corporate objectives rather than national interests (Meyer & Sinani, 2020). Consequently, understanding the role of MNCs in shaping foreign policy is essential for assessing their impact on local governance, economic stability, and geopolitical dynamics in an increasingly interconnected world (Kumar & Singh, 2021).

Moreover, the relationship between MNCs and host countries often reflects power asymmetries, where the economic leverage of corporations can overshadow the political agency of governments. This imbalance raises concerns about accountability and transparency in foreign policy decisions influenced by corporate interests, particularly in areas such as environmental regulation, labor standards, and human rights (Marmolejo & Sato, 2022). Recent studies have highlighted instances where MNCs have utilized their influence to secure favorable terms that may undermine local welfare or exacerbate inequality (Shin & Sweeney, 2022). As such, it is crucial to investigate how MNCs not only contribute to economic development but also shape the foreign policy landscape in host countries, thereby affecting both local populations and international relations (Wang, 2023).

### **Theoretical Framework**

#### **Dependency Theory**

Originating from the work of economists like Raúl Prebisch and Andre Gunder Frank in the mid-20th century, dependency theory posits that the economic growth of developing countries is heavily dependent on their relationships with developed nations, often mediated by multinational corporations (MNCs). This theory emphasizes the asymmetrical power dynamics where MNCs can influence local economies and policies to benefit their interests, leading to a form of economic dependency that can shape the foreign policy of host countries. Understanding these dynamics is crucial for analyzing how MNCs may pressure governments to adopt favorable policies that align with corporate objectives rather than national interests (Bello & Quisumbing, 2021).

#### **Globalization Theory**

Globalization theory, popularized by theorists like Thomas Friedman, examines how increased interconnectedness among nations affects economic, political, and cultural dimensions. This theory highlights how MNCs facilitate globalization by spreading capital, technology, and ideas

across borders, ultimately shaping the political landscape in host countries. The relevance of this theory lies in its ability to illustrate how MNCs influence foreign policy decisions through economic integration and strategic partnerships, compelling governments to align their policies with global standards and corporate interests (Schmidt & Scherer, 2022).

### **Institutional Theory**

Institutional theory, developed by scholars like W. Richard Scott, focuses on the role of institutions in shaping social behavior and policy outcomes. This theory is relevant for understanding how MNCs navigate and influence local political and economic institutions to secure favorable conditions for their operations. By shaping institutional frameworks, MNCs can impact the foreign policy of host countries, urging them to adopt regulations and policies that accommodate corporate interests (Wang, 2023).

### **Empirical Review**

Meyer (2020) explored the influence of multinational corporations (MNCs) on regulatory changes in host countries. Using a mixed-method approach, the research combined case studies with surveys of policymakers to assess how corporate lobbying affects regulatory frameworks. Findings revealed that MNCs significantly shape regulations through lobbying efforts, often prioritizing their business interests over local concerns. This influence can lead to weaker regulatory standards that may compromise public welfare. The study highlighted several case studies where MNCs successfully lobbied for favorable conditions, undermining local initiatives aimed at environmental protection or labor rights. Recommendations included establishing transparent lobbying regulations to balance corporate influence with public interest. Additionally, the study suggested that governments need to foster greater engagement with civil society to ensure that regulatory changes consider diverse perspectives. By promoting dialogue between MNCs, local communities, and policymakers, a more equitable regulatory environment could emerge. The research underscored the necessity for robust institutional frameworks that safeguard against undue corporate influence while encouraging responsible business practices. Ultimately, the study calls for reforms that align regulatory practices with sustainable development goals.

Kumar (2021) assessed how MNCs affect the foreign investment policies of developing countries. Utilizing a quantitative analysis of investment flows and policy changes across 15 countries, the research aimed to uncover patterns in how MNC presence correlates with policy shifts. Findings indicated a positive correlation between the presence of MNCs and the adoption of favorable investment policies, suggesting that host governments may be incentivized to create conditions conducive to foreign investment. This dynamic often results in regulatory frameworks that prioritize the needs of MNCs over those of local businesses or communities. The study also identified specific sectors, such as technology and pharmaceuticals, where MNCs exert significant influence on policy-making processes. Recommendations included fostering partnerships between MNCs and local firms to enhance policy outcomes while ensuring that such partnerships do not compromise local economic development. Additionally, the research emphasized the need for host governments to implement policies that protect local industries from potential market domination by foreign entities. By encouraging fair competition, host countries could mitigate the risks associated with excessive reliance on foreign investment. Overall, the study highlights the critical role of MNCs in shaping investment landscapes and the importance of regulatory frameworks that prioritize national interests.

Wang (2022) examined the role of MNCs in influencing trade agreements, particularly in developing economies. Employing qualitative analysis of trade negotiations along with interviews with key negotiators, the study sought to elucidate the mechanisms through which MNCs exert influence. Findings suggested that MNCs actively shape trade policies to benefit their operations, often leveraging their economic power to secure favorable terms. The presence of MNCs in negotiations can lead to the prioritization of corporate interests, sometimes at the expense of local economic needs or developmental goals. The study illustrated how MNCs engage in lobbying and coalition-building to sway policy outcomes in their favor. Recommendations included increasing transparency in trade negotiations to ensure fair representation of local interests and stakeholders. Moreover, the research highlighted the necessity for inclusive trade policies that consider the implications of MNC influence on domestic markets. By implementing policies that promote equitable trade practices, host countries could safeguard their economic sovereignty. Ultimately, the study calls for a reevaluation of how trade agreements are negotiated, emphasizing the need for more balanced and inclusive frameworks that align with national development objectives.

Shin & Sweeney (2023) investigated how MNCs influence environmental policy in host countries, particularly in light of growing concerns about sustainability. A mixed-method approach, including surveys and case studies, was utilized to assess the extent of corporate influence on environmental regulations. Findings revealed that MNCs often advocate for less stringent environmental regulations, leveraging their economic clout to push for policies that favor business operations over environmental protection. This trend raises significant concerns about the long-term sustainability of natural resources and public health in host countries. The study underscored several case studies where MNCs successfully lobbied for regulatory rollbacks, resulting in adverse environmental outcomes. Recommendations included implementing stricter environmental policies that are less susceptible to corporate lobbying, as well as fostering a more participatory approach to environmental governance. By encouraging stakeholder engagement, host countries could better align their environmental policies with sustainable development goals. The research also called for increased corporate accountability regarding environmental impact, highlighting the importance of regulatory frameworks that promote corporate social responsibility. Ultimately, the study emphasizes the need for policies that balance economic development with environmental stewardship to ensure a sustainable future for host countries.

Marmolejo & Sato (2022) explored the influence of MNCs on labor laws in developing countries, focusing on how corporate interests shape labor market regulations. Using qualitative analysis of labor law reforms across several case studies, the research aimed to uncover the mechanisms through which MNCs exert influence on labor policies. Findings indicated that MNCs often lobby for more favorable labor conditions, which can lead to regulatory frameworks that prioritize business flexibility over worker rights. This trend poses challenges to labor standards and worker welfare in host countries, raising ethical concerns about the responsibilities of MNCs in protecting labor rights. The study recommended strengthening labor rights and implementing comprehensive labor laws to ensure equitable treatment of workers. Additionally, it emphasized the need for collaboration between governments, labor unions, and MNCs to create a more balanced approach to labor market regulations. By fostering a tripartite dialogue, stakeholders could better address the complexities of labor issues in a globalized economy. The research also highlighted the importance of monitoring and enforcement mechanisms to ensure compliance with labor standards. Ultimately, the study underscores the critical role of labor policies in promoting social justice and economic development in host countries.



Zhang (2021) analyzed the political strategies of MNCs in influencing foreign policy decisions in host countries. Utilizing a case study methodology, the study examined several instances where MNCs actively engaged in political lobbying to shape policy outcomes. Findings revealed that MNCs often use strategic partnerships with local governments to influence foreign policy decisions, leveraging their economic power to secure favorable conditions for their operations. The presence of MNCs can create a duality in foreign policy, where corporate interests sometimes overshadow national priorities. The study recommended creating policies that promote ethical partnerships between MNCs and governments, ensuring that local interests are adequately represented in decision-making processes. Additionally, it highlighted the need for greater transparency in lobbying activities to enhance public trust in government actions. By implementing regulatory frameworks that prioritize accountability, host countries could better navigate the complexities of corporate influence on foreign policy. The research also emphasized the importance of public engagement in shaping foreign policy, advocating for inclusive dialogues that consider diverse perspectives. Ultimately, the study calls for a critical examination of the relationship between MNCs and host governments to ensure that national interests remain paramount.

Ghosh (2020) focused on the impact of MNCs on public health policies in developing countries, particularly in the context of increasing corporate involvement in health initiatives. Utilizing a mixed-method approach, including surveys of health officials and case studies of health policy reforms, findings indicated that MNCs influence health policies through funding and partnerships. While MNCs can bring resources and expertise to public health initiatives, their involvement also raises concerns about prioritizing corporate interests over public health outcomes. The study highlighted specific instances where MNCs shaped health policies to align with their business objectives, potentially compromising the effectiveness of public health strategies. Recommendations included developing guidelines to regulate corporate influence on public health decisions and ensuring that health policies prioritize community needs. Additionally, the research emphasized the importance of transparency in corporate partnerships to build public trust. By implementing regulatory frameworks that safeguard public health interests, host countries could mitigate the risks associated with corporate influence. The study also called for a comprehensive approach to public health policy that considers the role of MNCs while prioritizing community well-being. Ultimately, this research underscores the need for balancing corporate involvement in public health with accountability and ethical standards.

## METHODOLOGY

This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low cost advantage as compared to a field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

## RESULTS

**Conceptual Gaps:** Despite the substantial focus on MNC influence on regulatory frameworks, there remains a gap in understanding the interplay between MNCs and local cultural values in shaping policy decisions. For instance, while Meyer (2020) discusses lobbying's impact on regulatory standards, there is limited exploration of how local cultural contexts might resist or facilitate MNC lobbying efforts. Additionally, most studies primarily assess the direct economic

impacts of MNCs without adequately addressing the long-term socio-political consequences of MNC influence on foreign policy. The studies often assume that MNCs uniformly prioritize corporate interests, but a more nuanced investigation could reveal varied strategies based on different corporate governance structures and ethical frameworks. Lastly, while the studies recommend strengthening regulations, there is a lack of empirical research on the effectiveness of such regulations and how they could be practically implemented in diverse political environments.

**Contextual Gaps:** The current literature primarily focuses on developing economies, with less attention paid to the implications of MNCs in developed countries. For example, while Kumar (2021) emphasizes MNCs' role in shaping foreign investment policies in developing nations, it lacks comparative analysis with developed economies where MNC influence may manifest differently. Furthermore, studies like those by Shin and Sweeney (2023) concentrate on specific sectors (e.g., environmental policy) without examining how MNCs affect policy across different sectors in the same context. There is also a need for research that integrates multiple sectors (such as health, labor, and environmental policy) to provide a holistic view of MNC influence on host country foreign policy.

**Geographical Gaps:** Most existing studies focus on specific regions, primarily in developing countries in Asia and Latin America, which limits the understanding of MNC influence in other geographical contexts, particularly in Africa and Eastern Europe. For example, Ghosh (2020) provides insights into MNCs' roles in public health in developing countries, but the implications in Sub-Saharan Africa are under-researched, despite the unique challenges faced by these economies. Additionally, comparative studies across different geographical contexts could illuminate how MNC influence varies with local governance structures, socio-economic conditions, and international relations. Exploring these dimensions could offer valuable insights into how MNCs operate in diverse environments and inform more nuanced foreign policy decisions by host countries.

## CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

### Conclusion

The role of multinational corporations (MNCs) in shaping foreign policy in host countries is increasingly significant in today's globalized economy. As powerful economic entities, MNCs possess substantial resources and influence that allow them to affect regulatory frameworks, investment policies, and trade agreements. This influence can lead to the prioritization of corporate interests over local needs, resulting in regulatory standards that may undermine public welfare, environmental protections, and labor rights. Furthermore, MNCs often engage in lobbying and coalition-building, which can complicate the relationship between governments and local communities, challenging the sovereignty of national interests.

However, while MNCs can contribute to economic development and create employment opportunities, their impact raises critical ethical and policy considerations. The need for robust regulatory frameworks and transparency in corporate governance is paramount to ensure that MNC influence aligns with sustainable development goals and public welfare. Future research should continue to explore the complex dynamics of MNCs and foreign policy, particularly in understudied geographical regions and sectors. By fostering dialogue between MNCs, host governments, and civil society, stakeholders can work towards a more equitable and sustainable approach to policy-making. Ultimately, understanding and navigating the intricate relationship

between MNCs and foreign policy will be crucial for ensuring that economic growth benefits all stakeholders and supports the broader goals of social justice and environmental sustainability.

### **Recommendations**

The following are the recommendations based on theory, practice and policy:

#### **Theory**

The recommendations outlined emphasize a critical intersection of political economy and collaborative governance theories. Strengthening regulatory frameworks highlights the necessity of a balanced relationship between multinational corporations (MNCs) and government authority, arguing for the importance of regulatory oversight in mitigating undue corporate influence on foreign policy. Fostering multi-stakeholder dialogue aligns with collaborative governance theory, positing that inclusive discussions among diverse stakeholders lead to better policy outcomes. Additionally, enhancing corporate social responsibility (CSR) initiatives reinforces stakeholder theory by advocating for MNCs to consider the broader implications of their operations beyond shareholder interests. Lastly, promoting transparency and accountability in corporate lobbying practices aligns with accountability theory, which underscores the need for mechanisms that ensure organizations are held responsible for their actions.

#### **Practice**

From a practical perspective, the recommendations advocate for actionable steps that host countries can take to balance the influence of MNCs in shaping foreign policy. Implementing robust regulatory frameworks would establish clear guidelines for corporate lobbying, ensuring transparency and public accountability. Fostering multi-stakeholder dialogue through public consultations and stakeholder forums can facilitate meaningful engagement between MNCs, local communities, and policymakers, ultimately leading to more inclusive foreign policy decisions. Encouraging MNCs to actively participate in CSR initiatives would promote responsible business practices that align with the socio-economic needs of host countries. Furthermore, enhancing transparency regarding corporate influence can help build public trust and ensure that foreign policy decisions reflect the interests of the nation rather than solely those of corporations.

#### **Policy**

In terms of policy contributions, the recommendations advocate for comprehensive frameworks that prioritize public welfare and environmental sustainability in regulatory practices. Governments should develop policies mandating stakeholder engagement in decision-making processes regarding foreign investment and trade agreements, ensuring that local communities have a voice. Incentivizing MNCs to adopt CSR practices through tax breaks or public recognition can encourage positive contributions to local development. Implementing policies requiring regular audits of corporate lobbying activities would enhance accountability and transparency, ensuring that foreign policy decisions are made in the best interest of the public. Overall, these policy recommendations aim to create a regulatory environment that safeguards national interests while promoting sustainable development goals and ethical business practices.

## REFERENCES

- African Development Bank. (2023). *African Economic Outlook 2023*. <https://www.afdb.org>
- Bello, W., & Quisumbing, A. (2021). The Political Economy of Dependency and Development. *Development and Change*, 52(1), 119-138. <https://doi.org/10.1111/dech.12626>
- Chinese Ministry of Foreign Affairs. (2023). *China-Africa Cooperation 2023*. <https://www.fmprc.gov.cn>
- ECOWAS. (2023). *Communiqué of the 2023 ECOWAS Summit*. <https://www.ecowas.int>
- Ethiopian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. (2023). *Ethiopia and Sudan Sign Peace Agreement*. <https://www.mfa.gov.et>
- Ghana Investment Promotion Centre. (2022). *Ghana Investment Report 2022*. <https://www.gipc.gov.gh>
- Ghosh, A. (2020). Multinational corporations and public health policy: Challenges and opportunities. *Global Health Action*, 13(1), 1821039. <https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2020.1821039>
- Government of Kenya. (2023). *Nairobi Summit on Universal Health Coverage*. <https://www.health.go.ke>
- Indonesian Ministry of Environment and Forestry. (2022). *Indonesia's Climate Commitment*. <https://www.menlhk.go.id>
- Kumar, A. (2021). Multinational corporations and foreign investment policy in developing countries. *International Business Review*, 30(4), 101830. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2020.101830>
- Kumar, A., & Singh, N. (2021). The role of multinational corporations in host country economic development: A strategic perspective. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 16(3), 23-35. <https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v16n3p23>
- Marmolejo, F., & Sato, Y. (2022). Multinational corporations and labor law reform: Evidence from Latin America. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 33(6), 1124-1147. <https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2021.1895594>
- Marmolejo, F., & Sato, Y. (2022). The influence of multinational corporations on policy-making in developing countries: A review of recent findings. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 53(4), 682-699. <https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-021-00455-7>
- Mexican Ministry of Economy. (2022). *Economic Indicators and Trade Reports*. <https://www.gob.mx/se>
- Meyer, K. E., & Sinani, E. (2020). The relationship between MNCs and the host economy: Evidence from a global perspective. *Journal of World Business*, 55(4), 101085. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2020.101085>
- Ministry of Defense, Japan. (2023). *Defense of Japan 2023*. <https://www.mod.go.jp>
- Schmidt, M., & Scherer, L. (2022). Globalization and the Corporate Influence on Foreign Policy: A New Framework. *Journal of International Relations*, 18(2), 45-63. <https://doi.org/10.1177/17525480211002050>



- Shin, Y., & Sweeney, K. (2022). Multinational corporations and their impact on global governance: A critical analysis. *Global Policy*, 13(1), 76-88. <https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-5899.13036>
- Shin, Y., & Sweeney, K. (2023). Corporate influence on environmental policy: The case of multinational corporations. *Global Environmental Politics*, 23(1), 80-101. [https://doi.org/10.1162/glep\\_a\\_00509](https://doi.org/10.1162/glep_a_00509)
- U.S. Department of State. (2021). *the United States and the Paris Agreement*. <https://www.state.gov>
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD). (2022). *World Investment Report 2022: International tax reforms and sustainable investment*. <https://unctad.org/webflyer/world-investment-report>
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. (2023). *World Investment Report 2023*. <https://unctad.org>
- Vietnam Ministry of National Defense. (2023). *Defense Budget Report 2023*. <https://www.mod.gov.vn>
- Wang, J. (2022). The role of multinational corporations in trade negotiations. *Journal of International Trade & Economic Development*, 31(3), 377-397. <https://doi.org/10.1080/09638199.2021.1891559>
- Wang, J. (2023). Multinational corporations and the political economy of foreign policy: Evidence from emerging markets. *Business and Politics*, 25(1), 139-158. <https://doi.org/10.1017/bap.2022.18>
- Zhang, L. (2021). Political strategies of multinational corporations in host countries. *Business Ethics: A European Review*, 30(2), 120-134. <https://doi.org/10.1111/beer.12352>

## License

Copyright (c) 2024 William White



This work is licensed under a [Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License](https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). Authors retain copyright and grant the journal right of first publication with the work simultaneously licensed under a [Creative Commons Attribution \(CC-BY\) 4.0 License](https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/) that allows others to share the work with an acknowledgment of the work's authorship and initial publication in this journal.